2011

Michael and Lana Hone v. Advanced Shoring & Underpinning, Inc : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

Jurisdiction is proper in this Court under Utah Code Ann. § 78A-3-102(3)(j).

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Did the trial court err in denying Advanced Shoring's pretrial motion for summary judgment seeking judgment as a matter of law that Plaintiffs cannot meet their burden to prove that Advanced Shoring breached its contract or warranty or that Advanced Shoring's breach caused Plaintiffs' damages without expert testimony, in a case involving complex allegations of improper geotechnical analysis and underpinning of residential construction, where Plaintiffs did not designate and would not present expert testimony at trial?

Standard of review: Review for correctness, granting no deference to the trial court's legal conclusions, and viewing the facts and reasonable inferences drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. See *Normandeau v. Hansen Equipment, Inc.*, 2009 UT 44, ¶9, 215 P.3d 152; *Prince Yeates and Geldzahler v. Young*, 2004 UT 26, ¶10, 94 P.3d 179.

Preservation: This issue was preserved in the parties' briefing and oral argument regarding Advanced Shoring's Motion for Summary Judgment. (R. 39 at pp. 4-9.)

2. Did the trial court err in denying motion for directed verdict made by Advanced Shoring at the close of Plaintiffs' case in chief on the basis that Plaintiffs failed to meet their burden to prove that Advanced Shoring caused Plaintiffs' damages without expert testimony, in a case involving complex allegations of improper geotechnical

analysis and underpinning of residential construction, where Plaintiffs did not present expert testimony at trial?

Standard of review: “When reviewing the denial of a motion for involuntary dismissal, an appellate court should defer to the trial court's findings and inferences under a clearly erroneous standard and review the trial court's conclusions of law for correctness.” *Markham v. Bradley*, 2007 UT App 379, ¶173 P.3d 865; *Southern Title Guar. Co. v. Bethers*, 761 P.2d 951, 954 (Utah Ct.App.1988).

Preservation: This issue was preserved in oral argument on Advanced Shoring’s motion for directed verdict at the close of Plaintiffs’ case in chief. (R. 79 at pp. 114-116.)

3. Did the trial court commit reversible error in denying Advanced Shoring’s pretrial motion for summary judgment seeking judgment as a matter of law because Plaintiffs cannot recover direct or consequential damages for loss in value of their residence because they surrendered the residence in bankruptcy prior to trial and therefore did not own any interest in the property damaged?

Standard of review: Review for correctness, granting no deference to the trial court’s legal conclusions, and viewing the facts and reasonable inferences drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. See *Normandeau v. Hansen Equipment, Inc.*, 2009 UT 44, ¶9, 215 P.3d 152; *Prince Yeates and Geldzahler v. Young*, 2004 UT 26, ¶10, 94 P.3d 179.

Preservation: This issue was preserved in the parties’ briefing and oral argument regarding Advanced Shoring’s Motion for Summary Judgment. (R. 39 at pp. 1-4.)

4. Did the trial court err in denying Advanced Shoring's pretrial motion for summary judgment seeking judgment as a matter of law on the basis that an enforceable warranty cannot be created by a single statement made by Advanced Shoring that "I won't guarantee it unless I get \$10,000.00 more", but that rather such a statement is too indefinite to form an enforceable contract?

Standard of review: Review for correctness, granting no deference to the trial court's legal conclusions, and viewing the facts and reasonable inferences drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. See *Prince Yeates and Geldzahler v. Young*, 2004 UT 26, 94 P.3d 179; *Brown's Shoe Fit Co. v. Olch*, 955 P.2d 357 (Utah App. 1998).

Preservation: This issue was preserved in the parties' briefing and oral argument regarding Advanced Shoring's Motion for Summary Judgment. (R. 22 at pp. 1-5.)

CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES, AND RULES

None.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of case and course of proceedings below

This is a construction defect action filed by Plaintiffs as a result of foundation settling at the residence they formerly owned in LaVerkin, Utah. (R. 27 at pp. 1-2.) Plaintiffs filed this case on or about June 13, 2008, seeking recovery from Advanced Shoring for breach of contract, negligent misrepresentation, equitable estoppel, breach of warranty, and unjust enrichment/quantum meruit. (R. 1.)

After conducting discovery, Advanced Shoring first moved for summary judgment on or about November 30, 2009. (R. 21.) Advanced Shoring's motion was based (in part) on the fact on Plaintiffs' testimony that the sole basis for their breach of warranty claim is the statement "I won't guarantee it unless I get \$10,000 more", which Plaintiffs allege was made by an employee of Advanced Shoring. (R. 22 at pp. 1-5.) Advanced Shoring argued that this statement, standing alone, was much too indefinite to form the basis for an enforceable contract or warranty. (R. 22 at pp. 1-5.) In a brief order issued on May 11, 2010, the trial court indicated that "[a]s the Court finds that certain areas of material fact, particularly those relating to the alleged "warranty," remain in dispute, summary judgment is not appropriate at this juncture." (R. 33.)

After the expiration of expert discovery deadlines, Advanced Shoring filed a second motion for summary judgment, arguing that because Plaintiffs failed to designate an expert to testify on their behalf Plaintiffs could not meet their required burden of proof with respect to causation. (R. 39 at pp. 4-9.) Advanced Shoring also argued that Plaintiffs could not recover because they lost the Property as a result of their voluntary failure to make mortgage payments. (R. 39 at pp. 1-4.) Despite the agreement of the parties on the central facts applicable to these issues, the trial court again denied summary judgment on both arguments because of the existence of unspecified material disputes of fact. (See docket.)

This case was tried to the bench from January 24 – 28, 2011. (R. 62, 67.) Advanced Shoring raised the issues that form the basis of the instant appeal both in renewed dispositive motions and in closing argument. (R. 79 at pp. 114-140, 80 at 60-

89.) Specifically, at the close of Plaintiffs' case in chief, Advanced Shoring made a motion for a directed verdict based on Plaintiffs' failure to present expert testimony required to prove that any act or omission by Advanced Shoring caused Plaintiffs' damages. (R. 79 at pp. 114-116.) Advanced Shoring's motion was denied. (R. 79 at p. 140.) At the conclusion of trial the Court found for Plaintiffs on the breach of warranty and breach of contract causes of action and dismissed Plaintiffs' other causes of action. (R. 80 at 89-101.) Plaintiffs have not cross-appealed the dismissal of their remaining causes of action.

Facts

The following facts were either admitted on summary judgment or undisputed at trial:

Plaintiffs built a house on a lot located at 355 North 560 West in La Verkin, Utah (the "Property") in 2004. (R. 27 at pp. 1-2.) In 2006, Plaintiffs obtained a loan and executed a promissory note. (R. 39 at p. v; R. 44.) The promissory note was secured by the Property through a Deed of Trust. (R. 39 at p. v; R. 44.) Plaintiffs began to notice that the Property was settling two months after moving in. (R. 39 at p. v; R. 44.)

Plaintiffs filed suit in Fifth District Court against their general contractor and several subcontractors who performed work on the Property. (R. 39 at p. v; R. 44.) Plaintiffs brought claims seeking recovery for damage to the Property due to sinking of the foundation. (R. 39 at p. v; R. 44.) Plaintiffs ultimately settled the litigation against the general contractor who built their house. (R. 39 at p. v; R. 44.)

After settling that litigation, Plaintiffs' attorney obtained a bid from Advanced Shoring to perform certain repairs on the Property. (R. 39 at p. v; R. 44.) Plaintiffs directed their attorney to execute a written contract with Advanced Shoring on their behalf. (R. 39 at p. vi; R. 44.) Advanced Shoring began work on the Property in early 2006. (R. 39 at p. vi; R. 44.) After commencing work, Advanced Shoring learned that the condition of the Property was such that additional work and materials were needed to stabilize Plaintiffs' foundation. (R. 27 at p. 5.) Plaintiffs testified that Advanced Shoring's representative told Plaintiffs that "I won't guarantee it unless I get \$10,000 more." (R. 27 at pp. 5-6.) Plaintiffs authorized Advanced Shoring to perform the additional work, and paid approximately \$8,700.00. (R. 39 at p. vi; R. 44.)

Advanced Shoring performed work on the Property on more than one occasion, providing substantial work and materials in an attempt to stabilize the foundation. (R. 27 at p. 4.) Advanced Shoring completed its work, and then was notified that the Property continued to sink. (R. 39 at p. vii; R. 44.) Advanced Shoring returned to the Property and performed substantial additional work in attempt to prevent the Property from sinking further. (R. 39 at p. vii; R. 44.) Ultimately, Advanced Shoring's efforts to prevent further sinking of the Property were unsuccessful. (R. 39 at p. vii; R. 44.)

Beginning in June, 2009, Plaintiffs defaulted on the promissory note by failing to make required monthly payments. (R. 39 at p. vii; R. 44.) Notice of Default and Election to Sell the Property was filed by the holder of the deed of trust on or about August 25, 2009. (R. 39 at p. vii; R. 44.) On or about January 14, 2010, Plaintiffs filed a petition in the United States Bankruptcy Court in and for the District of Utah seeking protection

under chapter 7 of the United States Bankruptcy Code. (R. 39 at p. vii; R. 44.) Documents filed with the bankruptcy court indicate that Plaintiffs filed for bankruptcy protection because they were no longer able to satisfy their obligations to numerous creditors. (R. 39 at p. viii; R. 44.) Additionally, Plaintiffs represented to the United States Trustee that Mr. Hone's inability to continue working after suffering a blood clot in his leg reduced Plaintiffs income substantially. (R. 39 at p. viii; R. 44.) Plaintiffs filed a sworn statement of financial affairs with the bankruptcy Court indicating that Plaintiffs intended to surrender the Property to the holder of the trust deed. (R. 39 at p. viii; R. 44.) On or about January 15, 2010, the holder of the deed of trust moved the bankruptcy court to lift the automatic stay to allow the holder to foreclose the deed of trust, as Plaintiffs were in default and had no equity interest in the Property. (R. 39 at p. viii; R. 44.) The bankruptcy court granted the motion on or about February 10, 2010. (R. 39 at p. viii; R. 44.) Creditor then initiated a non-judicial foreclosure, which was completed by issuance of a trustee's deed on or about March 8, 2010. (R. 39 at p. viii; R. 44.) This trustee's deed transferred title to the Property to a buyer who purchased the Property at the trustee's sale. (R. 39 at p. viii-ix; R. 44.)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Appellant challenges the denial of two pretrial motions for summary judgments which presented arguments based on undisputed facts, and the denial of its motion for directed verdict made at the close of Plaintiffs' case in chief. Though the trial court denied these motions with largely cursory rulings indicating (in the case of the motions for summary judgment) that material issues of fact existed which precluded summary

judgment, these rulings were based entirely on undisputed facts – either testimony provided by Plaintiffs in deposition, the admitted failure of plaintiffs to retain an expert to testify in support of their claims, or the fact and effect of Plaintiffs’ bankruptcy. In every case, the undisputed facts presented in Advanced Shoring’s Motions did not materially change at trial. Therefore, the denial of these pretrial motions is properly challenged on appeal.

The evidence presented by Plaintiffs was insufficient, as a matter of law, to survive summary judgment because they failed to designate an expert to testify on their behalf as to the elements of causation and breach. Plaintiffs tried their case primarily on the theories of breach of contract and breach of warranty, and the trial court’s award was based on the breach of warranty theory only. However, each of these causes of action requires Plaintiffs to present evidence of breach and causation to recover. Determination of whether Advanced Shoring breached its contract with Plaintiffs or any warranty provided to Plaintiffs required analysis of the appropriateness of the geotechnical work performed by Advanced Shoring and whether any deficiency in Advanced Shoring’s work caused Plaintiffs’ damages. Due to the highly technical nature of Advanced Shoring’s work, and the multiplicity of potential causes for the sinking of the Property, Plaintiffs were required to submit expert testimony in order to meet their burden. In response, Plaintiffs firmly represented that they did not intend to present expert testimony. Therefore, the trial court erred in failing to grant Advanced Shoring’s Motion.

At trial, Advanced Shoring again moved for dismissal on the basis that, without expert testimony, the Plaintiffs were unable to meet their burden of proof. Plaintiffs did

not present any expert testimony in support of their claims. However, the trial court denied the motion without specifying a reason for doing so. The trial court erred in denying Advanced Shoring's motion because the technical and complicated nature of Advanced Shoring's work and the myriad of factors that could have caused the Property to sink required Plaintiffs to present expert testimony in order to prove, beyond mere speculation that Advanced Shoring caused or contributed to Plaintiffs' damages.

Advanced Shoring also sought summary judgment because Plaintiffs did not suffer any damages as a result of Advanced Shoring's conduct. The proper measure of contract or warranty damages is the amount necessary to "place the nonbreaching party in as good a position as if the contract had been performed." *Mahmood v. Ross*, 1999 UT 104, ¶ 31, 990 P.2d 933. In June of 2009, long after Advanced Shoring ceased working on the Property, Plaintiffs decided to stop making their mortgage payments, and predictably a secured creditor instituted foreclosure proceedings. Plaintiffs then filed for bankruptcy protection under chapter 7 of the United States Bankruptcy Code. Advanced Shoring indisputably had no involvement in Plaintiffs' bankruptcy or their decision to cease making mortgage payments. The combination of surrendering the Property to secured creditors and the bankruptcy discharge reduced Plaintiffs' interest in the Property to zero. Given that Plaintiffs no longer own the Property, they are in the same position they would be in regardless of any breach of warranty or breach of contract by Advanced Shoring.

Finally, the trial court erred in denying Advanced Shoring's motion for summary judgment on Plaintiffs' warranty claim because the language identified by Plaintiffs was insufficient to create a warranty as a matter of law. Plaintiffs repeatedly testified that the

sole basis for their belief that Advanced Shoring provided them with a warranty was the statement that “I won’t guarantee it unless I get \$10,000 more”. Plaintiffs claimed that Advanced Shoring made this statement in the context of requesting payment for additional piers necessary to support the foundation of the Property. However, Advanced Shoring’s statement does not actually promise or represent anything. Rather, it merely indicates that, if Plaintiffs would not pay for the additional work to be performed, no warranty could be provided. In contrast with the “direct and positive affirmation of fact” required by Utah law in order for a warranty to arise, Advanced Shoring’s statement is far too indefinite to give rise to an enforceable warranty. *SME Indus., Inc. v. Thompson, Ventulett, Stainback & Assocs., Inc.*, 2001 UT 54, ¶ 21, 28 P.3d 669. It is, at best, either an offer to provide further construction services, or a hopelessly vague and indefinite agreement to agree, which lacks the basic requirements for enforcement as a matter of law.

ARGUMENT

I. ADVANCED SHORING HAS PROPERLY CHALLENGED THE TRIAL COURT'S DENIAL OF PRETRIAL MOTIONS FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT.

- a. The denial of a pretrial motion for summary judgment can be challenged on appeal where the denial was on purely legal grounds

The Utah Supreme Court has explained that any time “that reasonable minds could not differ as to the conclusion to draw from the evidence or that the evidence adduced was simply insufficient to sustain the legal claim, then the trial court should rule on the issue as a matter of law.” *Normandeau v. Hanson Equipment, Inc.*, 2009 UT 44, ¶15, 215 P.3d 152. The Court then held that “when a court denies a motion for summary judgment on a purely legal basis, that is where the court denies the motion based on the undisputed facts, rather than because of the existence of a disputed material fact, the party denied summary judgment may challenge that denial on appeal.” *Id.*

In this case, Advanced Shoring filed two separate motions for summary judgment. (R. 21; R. 39 at pp. 4-9.) The trial court denied each motion with a cursory statement that material issues of fact existed which precluded summary judgment. However, the claims raised herein on appeal were based on undisputed facts, and involved purely legal determinations regarding whether the evidence presented could sustain a ruling in favor of Plaintiffs as a matter of law. These facts did not materially change at trial. Therefore, despite the trial court's cursory contention that material issues of fact existed, it is clear that Advanced Shoring's motions raised purely legal questions, and that Advanced

Shoring is therefore entitled to appeal the trial court's denial of its motions for summary judgment.

b. Advanced Shoring's challenge to the pretrial denial of its motions for summary judgment is proper because the motions were based on undisputed facts and turned on purely legal rulings

Appellants filed a motion for summary judgment in this case prior to trial on the basis that expert testimony was required to prove Plaintiffs' claims, and Plaintiffs failed to designate any expert witnesses to give testimony at trial. (R. 21; R. 39 at pp. 4-9.) The facts supporting Appellant's argument, namely the nature of Plaintiffs' defect claims and Plaintiffs' refusal to designate an expert to testify relative to said defects, were undisputed. (R. 44.) Specifically, Plaintiffs claimed that, due to Advanced Shoring's failure to properly perform its geotechnical and underpinning work, the Property continued to settle. (R. 44.) Moreover, the record undisputedly discloses that Plaintiffs never designated an expert to testify on their behalf, and Plaintiffs have repeatedly asserted that they had no intention of presenting expert testimony at trial. (R. 44.)

"Whether expert testimony is required to prove an element of the plaintiff's prima facie case as a matter of law..." *Fox v. Brigham Young Univ.*, 2007 UT App 406, ¶¶ 14, 21-23, 176 P.3d 446; see also *Posner v. Equity Title Ins. Agency*, 2009 UT App 347, ¶20, 222 P.3d 775. Therefore, the trial court's decision as to whether Plaintiffs' claims required them to present expert testimony, and thus to deny Advanced Shoring's motion for summary judgment, was a purely legal ruling, and is appropriately challenged on appeal.

In the same motion for summary judgment, Advanced Shoring challenged Plaintiffs' ability to recover for damage to the Property given that Plaintiffs voluntarily surrendered the Property in bankruptcy after deciding to stop making payments on their mortgage. (R. 39 at pp. 1-4.) Advanced Shoring's motion argued that Plaintiffs suffered no recoverable damages because Plaintiffs' lost the Property through their own choices and not as a result of any act or omission of Advanced Shoring. (R. 39.) Plaintiffs are in exactly the same position as if there were no breach, and thus Plaintiffs have no damages.

The fact that Plaintiffs' voluntarily ceased making their mortgage payments and filed bankruptcy was clearly established by Plaintiffs bankruptcy filings, and was supported by testimony given by Plaintiffs at trial. (R. 39 at p. vii; R. 44; R. 78 at 108:10-19.) There is no dispute that Advanced Shoring had not worked on the Property for more than a year at the time Plaintiffs stopped making their mortgage payments. (R. 39 at p. vii; R. 44.) These facts were undisputed, and did not materially change at trial.

"Anytime 'that reasonable minds could not differ as to the conclusion to draw from the evidence or that the evidence adduced was simply insufficient to sustain the legal claim, then the trial court should rule on the issue as a matter of law.'" *Normandeau*, 2009 UT 44 at ¶15 (quoting *AMS Salt Indus., Inc. v. Magnesium Corp. of Am.*, 942 P.2d 315, 320 (Utah 1997)). The facts of Plaintiffs' bankruptcy are undisputed and therefore resolution of Advanced Shoring's motion turned on a pure question of law, namely, whether reasonable minds could differ as to the conclusion to draw from the evidence that Plaintiffs voluntarily surrendered all interest in the Property to secured

creditors. The trial court's denial of Advanced Shoring's pretrial motion on this basis is appropriately challenged on appeal.

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