2011

Hone v. Advanced Shoring & Underpinning, Inc : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Advanced Shoring now seeks to appeal its losses on two motions for summary judgment. These motions were denied because the Trial Court determined that it could not render summary judgment in light of *material factual disputes*. Advanced Shoring later made its same summary judgment arguments at trial, and again lost. The Hones cannot definitively say why Advanced Shoring has chosen to appeal its losses on summary judgment instead of appealing the outcome at trial; but the obvious guess is that Advanced Shoring did not believe it could meet its heavy burden of attacking the Trial Court's factual record, which came out strongly in the Hones favor. To that end, Advanced Shoring now seeks to attempt an "end run" on the facts that were developed at trial by ignoring them, and asking this Court to review legal issues that were not outcome determinative. Regardless of whether the Hones' suspicions as to Advanced Shoring's motives are correct, the fact remains that the posture of Advanced Shoring's appeal is procedurally improper.

The Utah Supreme Court recently held that an appeal from the denial of a summary judgment motion is only appropriate if the motion were denied on a "*purely legal*" basis. *Normandeau v. Hanson Equipment, Inc.*, 2009 UT 44, ¶ 15, 215 P.3d 152, 157. In the instant case, the Trial Court denied Advanced Shoring's motions because of factual disputes, and Advanced Shoring's trial arguments were in no way prejudiced by the denials

of summary judgment; therefore, the Court of Appeals does not have jurisdiction over the subject matter of the denials of summary judgment at issue in the present appeal.

Advanced Shoring also appeals its lost motion for directed verdict. Advanced Shoring has failed to even make an attempt to marshal evidence, as is required for such an appeal, which would support the Trial Court's denial of directed verdict. Accordingly, Advanced Shoring's appeal should, and can, be dismissed on that basis alone. Additionally, this Court should note that while the failure to marshal evidence is fatal to Advanced Shoring's position, Advanced Shoring must also necessarily lose because Advanced Shoring cannot demonstrate the Hones failed to present evidence upon which a reasonable trier of fact could render a verdict in the Hones' favor.

Advanced Shoring argues that the Hones should have been required to present expert testimony at trial. Simply stated, expert testimony is unnecessary for a reasonable trier of fact to find breach of a warranty. Advanced Shoring guaranteed that it would fix the house and stop it from settling. Given the open and obvious devastation the home suffered any reasonable person, including the Hones, would be more than capable of testifying that the Hones' home was not fixed, did not stop settling, and was uninhabitable. No complex geotechnical analysis was necessary for the Hones to prove the breach. This is especially true where the City of LaVerkin deemed the home uninhabitable, and the Hones were forced to move out – the home was obviously not repaired as promised by the warranty.

Advanced Shoring seeks to escape responsibility by arguing that it cannot be responsible for the damages suffered by the Hones because they lost the home through foreclosure. This position is directly contrary to controlling Utah law. Specifically, the

Supreme Court of Utah has held that a property owner may recover damages for construction defects even if he or she no longer owns the home. *See Mitchell v. Stewart*, 581 P.2d 564 (Utah 1978). Furthermore, the Hones alleged at the time of summary judgment that Advanced Shoring was the direct cause of their loss of the home to foreclosure because of the extensive out-of-pocket expenses the Hones incurred while trying to repair the home after Advanced Shoring performed work and because the home was unlivable and the Hones could not afford to pay their mortgage in addition to a rental payment. Accordingly, Utah case law and issues of material fact both prevented summary judgment on this issue.

Finally, Advanced Shoring argues that the terms of the warranty at issue were too indefinite to be enforceable. The Trial Court expressly denied this argument because “certain areas of material fact, particularly those relating to the alleged ‘warranty,’ remain in dispute” (R. 33.) Advanced Shoring admits informing the Hones that additional work would be required to stop the home from settling and admits stating “I won’t guarantee it unless I get \$10,000 more.” The Supreme Court has held that whether a statement constitutes a warranty is a question for the trier of fact. *Groen v. Tri-O-Inc.*, 667 P.2d 598, 606 (Utah 1983). In this instance the meaning and intention behind the statement “I won’t guarantee it unless I get \$10,000 more” was precisely the factual question the Trial Court identified in denying the motion for summary judgment. Later, at trial, the Trial Court found the warranty was sufficiently definite. Specifically, the warranty required Advanced Shoring to repair the home and stop it from further settling. At a bare minimum, given the standard at summary judgment, this issue is one where its

ambiguous nature requires the trier of fact to review the facts and circumstances to appropriately interpret the warranty at issue.

ARGUMENT

I. ADVANCED SHORING DOES NOT HAVE A BASIS TO APPEAL THE DENIALS OF ITS MOTIONS FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT AND DIRECTED VERDICT.

- a. This Court can only review denials of summary judgment rendered on purely legal grounds; Advanced Shoring's motions for summary judgment were not denied on purely legal grounds.**

The Supreme Court of Utah has held that “when a court denies a motion for summary judgment on a purely legal basis, that is where the court denies the motion based on the undisputed facts, rather than because of the existence of a disputed material fact, the party denied summary judgment may challenge that denial on appeal.”

Normandeau v. Hanson Equipment, Inc., 2009 UT 44, ¶ 15, 215 P.3d 152, 157. “On appeal, we will review a district court's denial of a summary judgment motion when the district court makes a legal ruling based on undisputed facts that do not materially change at trial.” *Id.* at ¶ 9. The Supreme Court announced these holdings to clarify prior case law on the subject of the appellate review of denials of summary judgment. *Id.* at ¶ 8. The previous standard for reviewing the denial of a summary judgment motion was stated in *Wayment v. Howard*, 2006 UT 56, ¶ 20, 144 P.3d 1147, 1151-52 (emphasis in original):

In appealing a summary judgment ruling, only facts and legal theories that were *foreclosed* from being addressed at trial may be heard on appeal. Even if the motions had been granted, the interlocutory nature of a partial summary judgment leaves them subject to modification by the trial court

up until entry of final judgment. Appellant was accorded the opportunity to fully litigate his case. Consequently, the trial court's initial denials of partial summary judgment resulted in no prejudice, did not affect the final outcome, and are not reviewable.

The *Normandeau* Court considered implementing a bright line rule precluding any review of a denial of summary judgment, but ultimately determined that the courts may need to review summary judgment denials where, in light of a district court's denial of summary judgment on a legal basis, it would be futile for the moving party to continue to litigate the issue upon which it had lost at summary judgment. *Normandeau*, 2009 UT 44, ¶¶ 9-16. The Court cited to *Estate Landscape & Snow Removal Specialists, Inc. v. Mountain States Tel. & Tel. Co.*, 844 P.2d 322 (Utah 1992), in which the district court denied a summary judgment motion concerning accord and satisfaction as a matter of law. *Id.* at ¶ 12. "In that case, it would have been futile for the losing party to litigate accord and satisfaction at trial due to the earlier court ruling; no factual issue at trial would have affected the legal determination." *Id.* The *Normandeau* Court also cited to *Prince, Yeates & Geldzahler v. Young*, 2004 UT 26, 94 P.3d 179, in which Prince Yeates sought summary judgment, arguing that, as a matter of law, no contract existed between the parties to that case. *Id.* at ¶ 13. Prince Yeates was not foreclosed from arguing that there was no contract between the parties, but because the district court had already ruled that a contract existed, such an argument would have been futile and Prince Yeates was entitled to appellate review. *Id.* at ¶¶ 13-14.

In the instant matter however, Advanced Shoring's appeal is improper because its motions were not denied on a "purely legal" basis. Advanced Shoring sought relief

through summary judgment for each of the three issues it now appeals in the present matter. As to each of these issues, the Trial Court denied summary judgment on the basis that there existed material disputes of fact. Advanced Shoring can point to no legal ruling from the Trial Court which rendered any of its arguments futile at trial. In fact, all of those arguments were vigorously asserted at trial, and renewed as part of a motion for directed verdict and in the Advanced Shoring's case in chief.

Advanced Shoring's first motion for summary judgment, which sought relief on the basis that Advanced Shoring did not offer a warranty, was submitted on or about November 30, 2009. (R. 21.) The Trial Court found that "certain areas of material fact, particularly those relating to the alleged 'warranty,' remain in dispute." (R. 33.) Because of these material disputes of fact, the Trial Court held that summary judgment was not appropriate, and denied the motion on the basis of the factual disputes. (R. 33.) Advanced Shoring's motion for summary judgment as to the existence of the warranty was expressly denied on a factual basis.

As will be argued extensively below, numerous issues of fact prevented the Trial Court from granting Advanced Shoring's first motion for summary judgment. Specifically, the parties disputed the intent of Advanced Shoring in stating "I won't guarantee it unless I get \$10,000 more." The Hones contend that Advanced Shoring intended to offer a warranty, and Advanced Shoring contended it did not. (See R. 27 at p. 6.) Advanced Shoring, in its Memorandum in Support of Motion for Partial Summary Judgment (R. 22 at p. 5), acknowledges that Lana Hone's intent in paying additional monies was that Advanced Shoring would "fix the house, we will never have any problems with it again, he can secure

it. There won't be any sinking. There won't be any cracks. It will be good as new.' (Dep. of Lana Hone at 130:22-131:1; 107:18-108:15)."

Advanced Shoring's second summary judgment motion, filed on or about September 3, 2010, requested relief on the other two issues in its appeal: namely, that the Hones could not prevail on their case without expert testimony, and that the Hones could not recover because they no longer owned the home. This motion fared no better, and was denied by the Trial Court. Advanced Shoring admits that "the trial court again denied summary judgment on both arguments because of the existence of unspecified material disputes of fact." (Appellant's Brief, p. 4.)

Disputes of fact prevented summary judgment on the second motion as it concerns the necessity of expert testimony. The Hones presented facts on summary judgment that they bought a warranty from Advanced Shoring to keep their home from continued settlement, and that Advanced Shoring did not successfully stop the home from settling. (R. 44.) The primary factual dispute on this issue dealt with the intent of the parties and whether the Hones paid additional compensation just for work and labor, or whether they were purchasing a warranty. The Hones argue that because they purchased a warranty, this is primarily a case about breach of warranty and expert testimony is unnecessary.

As to the third issue on appeal, whether the Hones can recover damages for a home they no longer own, the record again demonstrates a factual dispute preventing summary judgment. The Hones would not have had to file bankruptcy and lose their home in foreclosure if Advanced Shoring had performed and honored its warranty. (See R. 44.) When it became apparent that Advanced Shoring could not fix the house, the Hones realized

they would lose their home. (R. 44 at p. 6.) The pending foreclosure on the Hones' home necessitated that the Hones file for bankruptcy protection to avoid a deficiency judgment being taken against them. (R. 44 at p. 6.) Advanced Shoring argued that the Hones' bankruptcy filings indicated that they had filed bankruptcy because they suffered a reduction in income after Mr. Hone became disabled and that they could not later claim they were filing bankruptcy because of anything Advanced Shoring did. (R. 51.) While true that the Hones' bankruptcy filing identified Mr. Hone's disability and loss of income as a reason for the bankruptcy filing, that does not change the fact that the Hones were forced into bankruptcy because Advanced Shoring did not honor its warranty. Because the facts concerning the reasons for the bankruptcy filing, and whether Advanced Shoring caused the Hones to file bankruptcy were in dispute, the Trial Court properly denied Advanced Shoring's motion for summary judgment on this issue as well.

Where the Trial Court denied Advanced Shoring's motions for factual disputes, it is hard to imagine that this Court can determine that the denials were on "purely legal" bases. Advanced Shoring is asking this Court to second guess the Trial Court's reasoning in denying these motions. Such is not the role of the Appellate Court. The Trial Court ruled that the motions were denied for factual reasons, but Advanced Shoring now argues that this Court should conclude that the Trial Court actually denied the motions on different grounds than those stated by the Trial Court. If the Court allows Advanced Shoring to appeal the denials of its motions, which were denied for factual reasons, and in light of the factual disputes set forth above, the Court is essentially saying that any denial of a summary

judgment motion is appealable. Such a proposition would be contradictory to the *Normandeau* directive that only denials on “purely legal” bases are appealable.

Advanced Shoring raised its summary judgment arguments at trial, on directed verdict, (R. 79 at pp. 114-125), and in its closing arguments, (R. 80 at pp. 57-89). Unlike the losing parties in *Estate Landscape* and *Prince, Yeates & Geldzahler*, it was not futile for Advanced Shoring to argue its summary judgment issues at trial. Where the Trial Court did not expressly deny the motions for a legal basis, Advanced Shoring was in no way impaired in bringing its summary judgment arguments again at trial. Where there is no specific pre-trial ruling which would render a trial argument futile, it is irrelevant if the motions were denied for factual reasons or for legal reasons. Therefore, Advanced Shoring is in a dissimilar position to the appellants in *Estate Landscape* and *Prince, Yeates & Geldzahler*. The Court should decline to take jurisdiction over the denials of summary judgment, or alternatively, if the Court does take jurisdiction, it should affirm the denials of Advanced Shoring’s summary judgment motions.

b. The Court should affirm the denials of summary judgment because Advanced Shoring failed to marshal evidence which would support the Trial Court’s findings of factual disputes.

A party challenging a fact finding must first marshal all record evidence that supports the challenged finding. Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure 24(a)(9). Though Advanced Shoring attempts to evade this requirement by framing its entire argument in a way that the Court will only review the Trial Court’s decisions for legal correctness, its argument, in actuality, challenges the factual determinations of the Trial Court. The Trial Court expressly denied Advanced Shoring’s first motion for summary judgment in light of

factual disputes, stating that “certain areas of material fact, particularly those relating to the alleged ‘warranty,’ remain in dispute.” (R. 33.) As to its second motion for summary judgment, Advanced Shoring admits that “the trial court again denied summary judgment on both arguments because of the existence of unspecified material disputes of fact.” (Appellant’s Brief at p. 4.) A district court’s finding that material facts are in dispute, thus preventing summary judgment, is a “fact finding” within the scope of Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure 24(a)(9).

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